FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/2/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/27/2024 1:06 PM

Case #: 1036582

No
Court of Appeals No. 84584-5
SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON
CR CONSTRUCTION, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,
Plaintiff,
V.
CORSTONE CONTRACTORS LLC, a Washington limited liability company,
Petitioner,
V.
SHERLOCK INVESTMENTS DUVALL, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,
Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court correctly deny Sherlock's CR 50 motion due to disputed issues of material fact, where ample evidence at trial supported Corstone's claims, as the jury correctly found?
- 2. Does *Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. Spokane Cnty.*, 150 Wn.2d 375, 78 P.3d 161 (2003) apply where, as here, this private contract does not contain notice provisions similar to those in public works contracts?
- 3. That is, is *Johnson* distinguishable for the same reasons the same Court of Appeals distinguished it in *Shepler Const., Inc. v. Leonard*, 175 Wn. App. 239, 306 P.3d 988 (2013)?
- 4. May an appellate court just disagree with a jury verdict and remand for more fact finding? If so, who would do that?5. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion to deny Sherlock a specific offset, where the jury had already rejected Sherlock's request for any offset?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are fully set forth in the Brief of Appellant, with citations to the record. This is a summary.

A. Sherlock retained Corstone as General Contractor on the Project, but Sherlock's owner (David Beal) became Administrative Architect.

In February 2018, Sherlock retained Corstone to serve as General Contractor for a self-storage facility in Duvall, Washington (the "Project"). During negotiations, Sherlock demanded that its owner, David Beal, serve as the Project's Architect for Construction Administration, rather than the Architect who stamped the drawings, Jackson Main Architecture P.S. Beal so acted, accepting the contractual duty to review Corstone's Change Orders (CO) and Payment Applications (PA).

¹ RP 583; CP 366, 377-445; Ex 4.

² RP 624-25; CP 367, 447-50.

³ RP 625; CP 367, 447-48.

B. A month after Corstone and subcontractor CR started work on the Project, Sherlock suspended construction under a Stop Work Notice lasting nearly four months.

Corstone and its subcontractors commenced work in March 2018, contemplating a one-year Project to March 7, 2019.⁴ Roughly one month later, Sherlock suspended Corstone's work on the Project for convenience: Sherlock's financing had fallen through.⁵ Upon receiving Sherlock's Stop Work Notice on April 13, 2018, Corstone sent Sherlock a confirming letter⁶ quoting the "Suspension By the Owner for Convenience" provision in the Contract.⁷ Sherlock never objected to this letter.⁸

Over three months later (July 19, 2018) Sherlock advised Corstone that its loan would be finalized the next

⁴ RP 1528; CP 367; Ex 85.

⁵ RP 700, 1528; CP 367; Exs 18, 85.

⁶ RP 703, 1528; CP 367, 452-53; Exs 18, 85.

⁷ RP 863-65; CP 367-68, 452-53; Ex 18 (quoting Ex 4 (§ 14.3 at p.35)).

⁸ CP 368.

day and that it had otherwise obtained all permits for the Project.⁹ Corstone immediately took steps to mobilize its subcontractors, recommencing the work within about 20 days, by August 6, 2018 – as quickly as it could.¹⁰ The total work stoppage under this Stop Work Notice was thus 115 days (roughly four months).¹¹

C. The Stop Work Notice pushed CR's dirt work into the wet months, increasing costs for additional work Sherlock's expert Geotech required, as Sherlock well knew.

When Sherlock suspended the work, Corstone Subcontractor CR was performing earthwork, including excavation, export, and import of soils. 12 When CR entered its subcontract in March 2018, it could not know that Sherlock would suspend its work in April 2018. 13 But due

⁹ RP 745-47, 877, 1120; CP 368, 455-56; Ex 2009.

¹⁰ RP 878, 1121, 1756; CP 368.

¹¹ RP 1528; CP 368.

¹² RP 456-59, 683; CP 369.

¹³ RP 1047; CP 369.

to Sherlock's work stoppage for almost four months, the earthwork CR had planned to perform in the dry summer months was shifted into the wet winter months. ¹⁴ As a result, more soil was unsuitable, necessitating additional excavation, export, and import. ¹⁵

Sherlock's consultant, Geotech Consultants, Inc., was onsite reviewing excavation and determining the suitability (and unsuitability) of soils throughout the Project. Geotech had the expertise and in fact directed Corstone and CR as to which soils needed to be exported and imported, directives with which Corstone and CR were required to comply. Additional exports and imports due to the changed timeline thus had nothing to do with

¹⁴ RP 639, 643-46, 723-25, 876; CP 369; Exs 2, 85.

¹⁵ *Id*.

¹⁶ See, e.g., RP 479-81, 496-97, 538-40, 549-50, 586, 639, 647-49, 838-44, 1094-95, 1132-51, 1544-45, 1811-122, 1817-20; 1918; CP 369-70; Exs 2, 3, 45, 53, 67, 69, 77, 80, 87, 93, 212.

¹⁷ RP 604-05, 608, 643, 659-62, 838-39, 1544-45; CP 369-70; Exs 2, 3.

Corstone's means and methods of performing work, but rather followed Geotech's directions. 18

Indeed, Sherlock had received an engineering report in December 2016, before the Project began, based on David Beal's own site plan. 19 This report repeatedly recommended to Sherlock and Beal that the earthwork be performed in the warmer and drier months.²⁰

And even beyond that, Geotech sent daily reports to Sherlock discussing unsuitable soils and Corstone and CR's increased import/export work.²¹ Sherlock was thus well aware of work being done.²² And many discussions were had with Administrative Architect Beal on site.²³

¹⁸ *Id*.

¹⁹ RP 585-87, 605-06, 608; CP 329-36; Ex 2.

²⁰ RP 642-43; CP 332; Ex 2 (§ 5.2.6).

²¹ See, e.g., RP 530-31, 539-40, 548-49, 838-44, 1132-51, 1811-12, 1817-18, 1918; CP 370, 462-81, 483; Exs 2, 3, 45, 53, 67, 69, 77, 80, 87, 93, 212.

²² *Id*.

²³ See, e.g., RP 531, 612-18, 624-25, 1157-58, 1344-45, 1806-07, 1825-26; CP 370.

D. Sherlock's Owner – Administrative Architect Beal – failed to comply with his contractual duty to review Corstone Payment Applications and to notify Corstone of any objections in writing.

As the Administrative Architect on the Project, Beal was required to review Corstone's Payment Applications (PA) and to notify it in writing of any withholding of certifications of payments, whether in whole or in part.²⁴ Beal's failure to comply with his contractual obligations in this regard created constant confusion and additional work to get Corstone's PAs properly processed.²⁵

In May 2019, David Beal told Corstone that he was going to put COs 27, 33, and 34, "in a pile of change orders to fight over at the end of the Project."²⁶ Before Beal's statement, Corstone believed that all COs had been approved subject to further documentation because Beal

²⁴ RP 624-25, 666, 1344-45; 1898; CP 371, 421; Ex 4 (§ 9.4.).

²⁵ See, e.g., RP 624-25, 666, 1353-56; CP 371.

²⁶ RP 1353-54; CP 372.

had not notified Corstone otherwise in writing.²⁷ After Beal's statement, Corstone included reservation of rights language in every application and waiver submitted to Sherlock, stating that all items in dispute include "Delay days and cost resulting from suspension."²⁸

From May 2019 through January 2020, Corstone submitted change order requests to Sherlock identifying delays due to increased scope of work directed by Sherlock's design team or related to deficient design work by the design team.²⁹ Although he sometimes made strikethroughs or added handwritten comments, Beal approved every CO with his "Authorized Signature."³⁰

_

²⁷ *Id.*; RP 1342-47; Ex 3078.

²⁸ *Id.*; Ex 3076.

²⁹ See, e.g., RP 1597-99; CP 373, 531-49; Exs 3079, 3101, 3102, 3105, 3113-15, 3117, 3119-3123.

³⁰ *Id.*; see also Ex 3129.

E. Procedural History.

CR sued Corstone, Sherlock, and others on June 30, 2020.³¹ Against Corstone, CR alleged breach of contract and sought foreclosure of its liens.³² All defendants answered CR's Amended Complaint, denying its claims.³³ Sherlock brought cross-claims against Corstone, which Corstone denied.³⁴ Corstone also asserted cross-claims against Sherlock for breach of contract, unjust enrichment, quantum meruit, and foreclosure of liens.³⁵

1. The trial court denied Sherlock's CR 50 motion due to genuine issues of material fact properly submitted to the jury.

At trial, Sherlock brought a CR 50 Motion to Dismiss all Corstone's claims. ³⁶ It argued that Corstone did not give

³¹ CP 1-5.

³² CP 3-4, 12-16.

³³ CP 17-22, 23-29, 67-78.

³⁴ CP 6-11, 36, 66, 84-89.

³⁵ CP 42, 66.

³⁶ CP 2826-45.

proper written notices and waived its claims, while also asserting that equitable claims are unavailable because the parties were in a contractual relationship.³⁷ Corstone responded in detail that it had presented ample evidence at trial supporting all its claims.³⁸ The trial court denied Sherlock's motion.³⁹

2. After many days of trial, the Jury awarded Corstone \$1,288,620.64

The jury returned a verdict against Sherlock and in favor of Corstone, awarding Corstone the full \$1,288,620.24.⁴⁰ It also awarded CR \$364,524.70.⁴¹ The jury rejected Sherlock's breach of contract claim against Corstone, awarding it no damages.⁴²

³⁷ CP 2826-27.

³⁸ CP 2869-87.

³⁹ CP 2995; RP 1744.

⁴⁰ CP 3054.

⁴¹ *Id.*

⁴² *Id*.

3. The Court of Appeals reversed the jury's verdict, adding language to the contract and disregarding both the standard of review and its own precedent.

But the Court of Appeals reversed the jury's verdict, holding that the trial court should have granted Sherlock's CR 50 motion. App. A at 7-14. The appellate court acknowledged that such motions rarely should be granted only when, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inferences therefrom to support a verdict for the nonmoving party." Mancini v. City of 196 Wn.2d 864, 877, 479 P.3d 656 Tacoma, (2021) (cleaned up) (quoting *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 162, 429 P.3d 484 (2018)). App. A at 7. Yet rather than viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, the court simply cherry-picked from this lengthy record some scant evidence favorable to Sherlock. See App. A at 11-12. It thus substituted its own judgment for

that of the jury, contrary to many decisions, including this Court's recent *Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec Inc.*, 197 Wn.2d 790, 799, 490 P.3d 200 (2021).

In addressing Sherlock's CR 50 motion – which simply regurgitated its earlier summary judgment motion that the trial court had denied due to genuine issues of material fact (see BR 24-27) – the trial court refused to reconsider its earlier decision: genuine issues of material fact required a jury trial, so the trial court gave those issues to the jury. RP 2215, 2238-39. Sherlock never challenged that ruling on appeal. BA 2-4.

Thus, the jury was properly tasked not simply with saying whether the contract required notice, but rather whether Sherlock waived its right to rely on those notice provisions by demanding that the work proceed apace, yet failing in its duty (as the Administrative Architect) to dispute the approved Change Orders in writing. For instance, Sherlock and Beal failed to dispute CO 27 in writing, as the

contract required. RP 912-14, 1161-63; CP 371, 421. As a result, the April and May 29 lien releases did not note any disputes about the existing change orders. Rather, Sherlock and Corstone were in ongoing discussions regarding them. Only when Beal said he would put COs 27, 33, and 34, "in a pile of change orders to fight over at the end of the Project" did he give Corstone *any* (if insufficient) notice that Sherlock was disputing some costs associated with the import/export earthwork. RP 1353-54; CP 372.

Similarly, Sherlock well knew that moving the dirt work into the wet months would necessitate extra work, based on its pre-construction geotechnical reports (RP 642-43; CP 329-32; Exs 2, 3); Beal's extensive expertise (CP 339; RP 1825); its expert Geotech's daily reports (CP 462-81); and Beal's onsite meetings to discuss the extra costs (CP 370). Its Geotech directed all additional excavation, import, and export work CR performed (CP 369-70) as Beal and Sherlock knew (CP 483-86). In short,

Sherlock *required* Corstone to perform the extra work for which it is here trying to avoid payment.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals reversed. It misapplied this Court's decision in *Johnson*, *supra*, where that public-works contract contained provisions nothing like the provisions in this contract. Indeed, *this* Court of Appeals distinguished *Johnson* on precisely this basis in *Shepler*, but ignored that precedent. It thus substituted its own interpretation of the contract for that of the jury, which was fully instructed on the rules and requirements for interpreting contracts. *See, e.g.*, BR 28-32.

The bottom line for the jury was whether Sherlock proved that Corstone waived its claim for an increase in the contract price. CP 2981. But to even reach that defense, it first had to find that Sherlock had breached the contract, that Corstone had performed or offered to perform its contractual obligations, and that Corstone was damaged. *Id.* And to reject Sherlock's breach of contract claim (CP)

3054) the jury had to find that Corstone *did not* breach the contract, that Sherlock *had not* performed or offered to perform, or that Sherlock was not damaged – or some combination of these. CP 2984. The only way the appellate court could properly reverse under CR 50 would be to find *no evidence* supporting the jury's myriad possible and necessary findings. But it failed to even conduct that analysis, instead substituting its own version and interpretation of the contract for the one the jury properly interpreted.

The jury justly required Sherlock to pay for the work it received, from which it continues to benefit. It correctly laid the blame for the increased costs on Sherlock. This Court should grant review to reverse this unjust appellate decision, which deprives Corstone of the fruits of its labor and a just jury verdict.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The appellate decision conflicts with many decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The appellate decision acknowledges the correct standard of review for CR 50 motions (App. A at 7):

Under CR 50(a)(1), a court may grant judgment as a matter of law on an issue if "there is no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find [for the nonmoving party] ... with respect to that issue." "We review a trial court's decision on a CR 50 motion as a matter of law and 'apply the same standard as the trial court." [*Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 877 (citation omitted)]. A CR 50 motion for judgment as a matter of law "'should be granted only when, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inferences therefrom to support a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 877.... 43

But rather than follow this correct standard of review

- by scouring the record for the evidence most *favorable* to

⁴³ Futilely, the decision also notes that it may *affirm* the trial court on any supported basis. *Id.* (citing *Washburn v. City* of *Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 753 n.9, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013)). Yet the appellate court did not *affirm* anything the judge or jury did.

the jury's verdict, of which there is a great deal – the decision instead arrogates the jury's authority to interpret the contract to the appellate court (id. at 7-8):

We interpret a provision of a contract as a question of law. If the contract language is clear and unambiguous, we will enforce the contract as written. The primary objective in contract interpretation is to determine the intent of the parties. Washington follows the objective manifestation theory of contract interpretation, under which we try to arrive at the intent of the parties by focusing on the objective manifestations of the agreement rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties. We interpret contracts in a manner that will not render provisions in the contract meaningless. And we read the contract as a whole, avoiding interpretations that lead to absurd results. [Citations omitted.]

The *jury* was instructed to perform this analysis and it did so. See BR 28-32. But the appellate court rewrote the contract and imposed its own interpretation.

An appellate court may not reweigh the evidence – selecting *only* evidence *unfavorable* to the verdict (see App. A at 11-12) – and then substitute its own interpretation of its rewritten contract for that of the jury, an analysis that

flies in the face of a great deal of this Court's precedent. See, e.g., Mancini, 196 Wn.2d at 877; H.B.H., 192 Wn.2d at 162; Schmidt v. Coogan, 162 Wn.2d 488, 491-93, 173 P.3d 273 (2007); Goodman v. Goodman, 128 Wn.2d 366, 371, 907 P.2d 290 (1995); Hizey v. Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 271, 830 P.2d 646 (1992). Rather, the "evidence must be considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Mancini, 196 Wn.2d at 877 (citing Bender v. Seattle, 99 Wn.2d 582, 587, 664 P.2d 492 (1983); Bertsch v. Brewer, 97 Wn.2d 83, 90, 640 P.2d 711 (1982)).

Indeed, a "CR 50 *motion must be denied* if substantial evidence exists in the record to sustain the jury's verdict." *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 878 (emphasis added). That is what the trial court did. The appellate court failed to follow this Court's controlling authority.

In creating this conflict with this Court's precedents, the appellate court did two more unprecedented things. First, it rewrote this private contract to fit the Public Works

model addressed in *Johnson*. While the appellate decision quotes this contract (App. A at 9-11) it fails to *ever* compare its language to that in *Johnson*. As further discussed *infra*, they are nothing alike, raising a conflict with the appellate court's own analysis in *Shepler*.

Second, its analysis conflicts with this Court's blackletter law that courts may not rewrite contracts in the guise of interpreting them. See, e.g., Tadych v. Noble **Ridge Constr., Inc.**, 200 Wn.2d 635, 648, 519 P.3d 199 (2022) (Gonzalez, J., dissenting) (courts may not, "under the guise of interpretation, rewrite a contract which the parties have deliberately made for themselves") (quoting City of Seattle v. Kuney, 50 Wn.2d 299, 302, 311 P.2d 420 (1957)); Little Mt. Estates Tenants Ass'n v. Little Mt. Estates MHC, LLC, 169 Wn.2d 265, 269 n.3, 236 P.3d 193 (2010) (same) (citations omitted); *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc.* v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 511, 115 P.3d 262 (2005) (citing *Findlay v. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, 129 Wn.2d

368, 380, 917 P.2d 116 (1996) (same)); *Panorama Vill. Condo. Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 144 Wn.2d 130, 137, 26 P.3d 910 (2001) (same); *Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Emples. Ass'n v. The Boeing Co.*, 139 Wn.2d 824, 833, 991 P.2d 1126 (2000) (same); *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 669, 801 P.2d 222 (1990) (same); *Wagner v. Wagner*, 95 Wn.2d 94, 101, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980) (same); *Clements v. Olsen*, 46 Wn.2d 445, 448, 282 P.2d 266 (1955) (same); *Chaffee v. Chaffee*, 19 Wn.2d 607, 626, 145 P.2d 244 (1943) (same)).

This partial list includes some of this Court's most significant precedents. It should grant review to defend these foundational principles, both as to the correct standard of review and as to proper contract interpretation.

B. The decision conflicts with other appellate court decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

As noted *supra*, this decision conflicts with this appellate court's own decision in **Shepler**, which did it not

even mention. Undoubtedly, Sherlock will blame Corstone for the appellate court's failure to follow its own precedent, noting that Corstone did not address Sherlock's Johnson argument in its response brief. But as explained supra, the CR 50 standard of review required the appellate court to look at the record, seeking evidence supporting the jury's *interpretation of the contract*, not to reinterpret the contract based on the limited evidence favoring Sherlock, much less to rewrite the contract to facilitate "strictly" applying **Johnson**, disregarding the jury's verdict. Under the correct standard of review, Sherlock's **Johnson**-based argument (that the appellate court may simply ignore disputed issues of fact regarding Sherlock's notice and its waiver of contractual notice requirements) merits no response.

But since the appellate court chose an unprecedented course of analysis, Corstone distinguished **Johnson** in its Motion for Reconsideration. The appellate court called for a response – even accepting a highly

unusual *amicus* brief supporting Corstone's position – but then failed to withdraw its opinion, apply the correct standard of review, respect its own precedent, and reconsider its incorrect decision. All of this was error.

That is, having heard half the evidence, the trial court denied Sherlock's CR 50 motion and reaffirmed that the issue was for the jury, where Corstone proffered ample evidence of notice to and waivers by Sherlock, raising genuine issues of material fact for the jury. RP 1744; CP 2869-87. Instead of following this correct CR 50 analysis, the appellate decision purported to "strictly" apply Johnson. Yet that contractual notice provision was different in every relevant respect from this contract's notice provisions. See Johnson, 150 Wn.2d at 380:

The formal claim procedures required MMJ to submit a claim to the project engineer in sufficient detail to enable the engineer to ascertain the basis and amount of the claim. At a minimum, MMJ was required to submit 10 items of specific information to support a claim, including a notarized statement to the project engineer swearing

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