FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/17/2025 12:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 103658-2

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CR CONSTRUCTION, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Plaintiff,

and

CORSTONE CONTRACTORS LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner,

v.

SHERLOCK INVESTMENTS DUVALL, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

and

THE HANOVER INSURANCE COMPANY, bond no. BL21050154; ALASKA USA FEDERAL CREDIT UNION,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

(1) Review Is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or
(2); Division I's Unpublished Opinion Applied
Settled Precedent Thoroughly Established by This
Court

This Court has addressed the issue of construction change order procedures three times since 2003, holding each time that written notice provisions in a construction contract are *mandatory* and that actual notice of such a claim is insufficient unless there is clear evidence of a waiver. *See NOVA Contracting, Inc. v. City of Olympia*, 191 Wn.2d 854, 857, 870-

71, 426 P.3d 685 (2018) (no exception to contract's written notice of claim requirements); *Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia*, 162 Wn.2d 762, 773, 174 P.3d 54 (2007) (equivocal conduct could not impliedly waive contract's claim procedures); *Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. Spokane County*, 150 Wn.2d 375, 377, 391, 78 P.3d 161 (2003) (actual notice did not excuse compliance with contractual claim procedures).

Of these, the most analogous to this case is *Mike M*. *Johnson*; Division I properly applied this Court's decision. That contract also included "mandatory notice, protest, and formal claim procedures for claims of additional compensation, time extensions, and changed conditions." 150 Wn.2d at 379. This Court held that a contractor had no right to recover as a matter of law because it failed to follow the mandatory change order procedures, even though it provided actual notice. There is no "actual notice" exception and that notice requirements would "be enforced absent either a waiver by the benefiting party or an agreement between the parties to modify the contract." *Id.* at

The Court of Appeals has been applying this universal principle in Washington for decades. *See Clevco, Inc. v. Mun. of Metro. Seattle,* 59 Wn. App. 536, 542, 799 P.2d 1183 (1990), *review denied,* 117 Wn.2d 1006 (1991) ("failure to comply with the requirements of the change order provision is fatal to a later claim for compensation based on extra work") (cited with approval in *Mike M. Johnson*). Division I properly distinguished the arguments Corstone makes in ways that conform to long-standing precedent

For example, Corstone argues that Sherlock knew excavation was more difficult due to delays, but it does not matter if the parties knew conditions related to the project had changed. *Sime Const. Co., Inc. v. Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 28 Wn. App. 10, 13, 621 P.2d 1299 (1980), *review denied*, 95 Wn.2d 1012 (1981) (change orders are mandatory even where all parties knew that key drawings were delayed, which would increase project costs); *Hensel Phelps Const. Co. v.* 

King County, 57 Wn. App. 170, 178, 787 P.2d 58 (1990) (subcontractor could not seek more compensation due to failure to provide timely notice, even though general contractor unilaterally accelerated the work schedule increasing expenses).

And contrary to Corstone's arguments that geotechnical engineers reported on soil work, an architect or consultant cannot alter the construction contract or approve increases to a negotiated contract sum. *Absher Const. Co. v. Kent Sch. Dist. No. 415*, 77 Wn. App. 137, 143, 890 P.2d 1071 (1995) ("[A]n architect and its sub-consultants are not a general agent of his or her employer and have no implied authority to make a new contract or alter an existing one for the employer.").

The Court of Appeals consistently applies these established principles. For example, while this case was pending, Division I decided *Cascade Civil Constr.*, *LLC v. Jackson Dean Constr.*, *Inc.*, 28 Wn. App. 2d 1022, 2023 WL 6210985 (2023) (unpublished), which has strikingly similar facts. That private construction contract also included work for

"dewatering" and soil "excavation." *Id.* at \*1. After the project was temporarily delayed, the contractor claimed the delay "created a dramatically different set of work" due to the water table and wet soil. *Id.* at \*1. The contractor was also "directed...to make a deeper excavation under one of the buildings, pursuant to a design change from the project architect." *Id.* at \*2. Just like this case, the contractor waited until *after* the work was substantially completed to send change orders requesting increases to the contract sum. *Id.* at \*2-3.

Division I affirmed dismissing the contractor's claims for additional payment as a matter of law, relying on *Mike M. Johnson* for the rule that "Washington decisions enforce notice and claim procedures in construction contracts." *Id.* at \*4. Highlighting that Sherlock's dispute never should have gone to a jury, Division I reiterated that a "dispute concerning the effect of the change order, notice of claim, and dispute provisions presents a question of contract interpretation" which "is a question of law." *Id.* at \*4.

Division I also applied these settled rules here. Corstone did not comply with the Contract's mandatory notice provisions. Corstone admitted that it learned about allegedly unsuitable soils and unilaterally instructed CR to proceed with additional work months before submitting a change order to Sherlock. *See*, *e.g.*, ex. 61 (email telling CR to "proceed" with increased work). CR commenced this soil excavation and completed the work in January 2019. *Only after the work was complete* did Corstone send a written change order seeking additional payment. *E.g.*, ex. 100.

Division I correctly held that the trial court should have dismissed Corstone's claims for additional payment as a matter of law, given these undisputed facts. That holding created no conflicts in law.

Now Corstone cites *Shepler Construction Inc. v. Leonard*, 175 Wn. App. 239, 306 P.3d 988 (2013), a case it cited *for the first time on reconsideration* and without ever discussing its facts, to argue some conflict exists between Division I's opinion

and the well-settled law referenced above. *Shepler* does not apply.

Shepler dealt with a joint waiver of a provision in a contract that required arbitration. Both parties litigated the case for seven years before one party made an argument that the matter should have been arbitrated first, according to the parties' contract. Id. at 242-43. Under those facts, Division I found the failure of both parties to arbitrate first did not require dismissing the ongoing lawsuit.

Shepler did not address a request to increase the contract sum, which requires a written change order *prior to* work being performed. *E.g.*, *Mike M. Johnson*, 150 Wn.2d at 377. Unlike the parties in *Shepler*, Sherlock did not waive the requirement that Corstone submit change orders before performing work. It rejected the belated change orders from the start. *See* exs. 2012, 3127, 3130 (rejecting belated change orders 27, 33, 34, 61, 74, and 75). Sherlock maintained its defenses in its answer, and then sought summary judgment dismissal and CR 50 dismissal

arguing Corstone waived a right to pursue a claim for an increased Contact Sum under the Contract. This case is simply not *Shepler* – it is no wonder Corstone continues to omit the facts of that case in its petition for review.

Division I's decision does not alter or change the law. It creates no conflict among authorities. There is no need for this Court to grant review of an unpublished opinion in this settled area of law when it has done so three times in the last 23 years to clarify the law to the point that it is consistently applied in appellate courts to this day. Review is not warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

(2) <u>Granting Review Would Unsettle Commonsense</u> Precedent and Create Bad Public Policy

Moreover, granting review could result in bad policy.

Corstone invites this Court to make bad law, and its invitation should be rejected.

Enforcing formal change order procedures in construction contracts makes sense. Hiring a contractor to remodel a

bathroom in one's home for \$20,000 does not permit the contractor to undertake a million-dollar renovation and then demand \$1 million payment *after* the work is completed. The owner must be given the chance to make an informed choice among alternatives when faced with a cost overrun *before* those costs are incurred. *See, e.g., Sime,* 28 Wn. App. at 15 (had required notice been given the owner, general contractor, and other interested parties "could have balanced the desirability of [pushing forward with the work] against those costs in determining economic feasibility.").

This case shows precisely why this rule exists. Project managers testified that Corstone's excavation plan created *more unsuitable soils* on site and alternatives such as a crane would have "saved a lot of export" and "a lot of money." RP 543-62. Corstone's own project manager testified that he always scrutinized his subcontractors' change orders ahead of time to ensure they were "legitimate" and necessary. RP 1130-31. Corstone denied Sherlock that opportunity.

The soundness of the rule established in cases like *Mike* M. Johnson surfaced elsewhere during this very project. In another instance Corstone submitted a timely change order, informing Sherlock that an electrical system should be installed and offering to perform the work for \$119,000. RP 1461-62; Ex. 3176. Sherlock believed the bid was too high and hired another contractor who did the work for \$46,000. *Id.* Sherlock was only able to mitigate this cost because Corstone provided written notice and submitted a change order for approval before undertaking the work, as required under the parties' Contract. *Id*. Put another way, because Corstone complied with its contractual notice obligation in that instance, Sherlock saved at least \$73,000.

Division I properly construed the Contract as a whole and applied the bright-line rule established by this Court that prior written notice is a prerequisite to any claim for increased payment when required by contract. This case does not meet the RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4) criteria for review because Division

I's unpublished opinion creates no conflicts and furthers good public policy.

(3) <u>Corstone Raises Arguments It Failed to Raise</u>
<u>Below, Thereby Waiving Review, Which Still Do</u>
Not Change the Outcome

Beyond failing to meet the mandatory criteria of RAP 13.4(b), review is particularly inappropriate because Corstone argues novel theories it failed to appropriately raise in Division I until a motion for reconsideration, theories that do not change the outcome of this case.

(a) <u>Corstone's Petition Relies on Arguments It</u> Did Not Timely Raise Below

Corstone argued for the first time in its motion for reconsideration that "nothing in [the Contract] makes failure to give [prior] notice [that Corstone intended to seek an increase of the Contract Sum] a waiver." Corstone mot. at 5. It continues to rely on this argument in its petition for review, arguing that an alleged lack of waiver provision separates this case from *Mike M. Johnson*, warranting review. This is not true as a matter of

fact and law. But Corstone's failure to timely raise this issue is fatal on its own and should prevent Supreme Court review.

Washington has a strong public policy in favor "of finality of judicial decisions." *Reichelt v. Raymark Indus., Inc.*, 52 Wn. App. 763, 765, 764 P.2d 653 (1988). In furtherance of that policy, a motion for reconsideration does not allow a party "to propose new theories of the case that could have been raised before entry of an adverse decision." *Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst.*, 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005). This Court will ordinarily refuse to decide "issues and theories not appropriately raised before the Court of Appeals." *Peoples Nat. Bank of Washington v. Peterson*, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973); *see also, Douglas v. Freeman*, 117 Wn.2d 242, 257, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991) (accord).

In Division I, Sherlock succinctly argued in its opening brief that Corstone's failure to submit a change order before performing the soil work, waived its right to increase the contract price as a matter of law, in accordance with precedent.

Appellant's br. at 17 ("According to the Contract, '[f]ailure to provide prompt notice as required [by the contract] shall constitute a waiver by Contractor of any adjustment of the Contract Sum or Contract Time for such condition.' *Id.* at §3.7.4."). In response, Corstone failed to make the argument it now raises on reconsideration that the waiver provision of "§3.7.4 Concealed or Unknown Conditions" (which covers "subsurface" conditions) does not apply in this case. Corstone never cited §3.7.4 in its Court of Appeals brief; the words "concealed," "unknown," and "subsurface" appear *nowhere* in Corstone's responsive brief.

Corstone did not even dispute that *Mike M. Johnson*, and cases like it apply to this case. As Division I noted, "Corstone fails to respond directly to Sherlock's argument that a contractor who fails to follow contractual notice provisions is barred from seeking additional compensation." Op. at 12. Corstone never cited *Shepler* or otherwise made the arguments it raised for the first time on reconsideration. This alone is reason to deny review

because Corstone did not "appropriately raise" the arguments it now champions until after it lost on appeal. *Peoples Nat. Bank of Washington*, 82 Wn.2d at 830; *Wilcox*, 130 Wn. App. at 241.

In effect, Corstone's belated arguments are issues raised for the first time on appeal, which this Court customarily does not review under RAP 2.5. Division I was correct not to bite on Corstone's belated arguments. Nor should this Court reward Corstone for gambling on a favorable decision, only to raise new theories and arguments after it lost on appeal. The Court should deny review.

But even if this Court entertained Corstone's late arguments, they do not change the outcome as a matter of fact and law.

(b) <u>Interpreting Contracts Is a Matter of Law for</u>
<u>Courts Not a Jury, and Division I's Ruling Is</u>
<u>Factually Correct</u>

Corstone's argument that the contract does not contain a waiver provision rests on a false premise. The parties' Contract contains an applicable wavier provision. The Contract provides

that the parties negotiated a Contract Sum and if Corstone wished to change the Contract Sum, written notice as provided in the Contract "shall be given before proceeding to execute the Work." Ex. 4 §15.1.4 (emphasis added). "Except as otherwise agreed, all changes to the Work *shall comply* with section 7.2 Change Orders. Nothing herein shall limit Contractor's *obligation* to give timely notice as stated in these General Conditions." *Id*. (emphasis added). Section 3.7.4 includes the waiver language Corstone wrongfully claims is missing from the Contract: "Failure to provide prompt notice as required herein [i.e., by the Contract] shall constitute a waiver by Contractor of any adjustment of the Contract Sum or Contract Time for such condition." Id. (emphasis added).

Corstone claims §3.7.4 does not apply. For support of that assertion in the record, Corstone cites a single page of *argument* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As discussed below, these obligations impose conditions precedent to seeking an increase of the Contract Sum, even without §3.7.4's waiver language.

in an opposition filing. CP 2873. But argument from counsel is not evidence.

In reality, §3.7.4 specifically addresses conditions at the site that are "subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents." (emphasis added). The suitability of the soil and the soil excavation work that would need to be completed a "subsurface" condition as shown by the *evidence* in the case. Ex. 2 (reports describing soil suitability as a subsurface condition); Ex. 3 (accord).

This case is deceivingly simple, and Division I got it correct. The parties agreed to one Contract Sum. Corstone performed what it considered additional work based on changed *subsurface* conditions that it argued warranted an increase in that sum. But Corstone failed to submit itemized change orders *before undertaking work* for which it later sought increased payment, a requirement under the contract, thereby waiving its claims.

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